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ORDER MAKING FINDINGS AND

In the Matter of : IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
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Edward Richardson Jr., CPA and : AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES
Edward Richardson Jr., : EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
: 102(e) OF THE COMMISSION’S RULES
Respondents. : OF PRACTICE

On February 24, 2017, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) instituted
public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings pursuant to Sections 4C* and 21C of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and Rules 102(e)(1)(ii) and 102(e)(1)(iii) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice? against Edward Richardson Jr., CPA (“Firm”) and Edward
Richardson Jr. (“Richardson”) (collectively, “Respondents”) (Rel. No. 34-80103).

! Section 4C provides, in relevant part, that:

The Commission may censure any person, or deny, temporarily or permanently, to any person the
privilege of appearing or practicing before the Commission in any way, if that person is found . . .
(1) not to possess the requisite qualifications to represent others . . . (2) to be lacking in character
or integrity, or to have engaged in unethical or improper professional conduct; or (3) to have
willfully violated, or willfully aided and abetted the violation of, any provision of the securities
laws or the rules and regulations thereunder.
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Rule 102(e)(1)(ii) provides, in pertinent part, that:

The Commission may censure a person or deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of
appearing or practicing before it . . . to any person who is found . . . to have engaged in unethical
or improper professional conduct.



In connection with these proceedings, Respondents have submitted an Offer of
Settlement (the “Offer””) which the Commission has determined to accept. Solely for the purpose
of these proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or on behalf of the Commission, or to
which the Commission is a party, and without admitting or denying the findings herein, except as
to the Commission’s jurisdiction over them and the subject matter of these proceedings, which
are admitted, and except as provided herein in Section V, Respondents consent to the entry of
this Order Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-Desist Order
Pursuant to Sections 4Cand 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 102(e) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice (“Order”), as set forth below.

Ii.
On the basis of this Order and Respondents’ Offer, the Commission finds® that:
A SUMMARY

1. These proceedings arise out of Respondents’ improper professional conduct and
violations, and/or aiding and abetting and causing violations of, the federal securities laws in
connection with audit engagements for an issuer client and dozens of broker-dealer clients.
Specifically, Respondents failed to obtain Engagement Quality Reviews (“EQRs”) as required by
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) auditing standards for the audits of an
issuer client and dozens of broker-dealer clients. For many of these broker-dealer clients, the Firm
falsely represented that its audits were conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards when
Respondents knew that EQRs were required by PCAOB auditing standards and had not been
performed.

2. Respondents failed to comply with numerous additional PCAOB auditing standards
in connection with the financial statement audits of an issuer client and two broker-dealer clients. In
particular, Respondents failed to comply with PCAOB auditing standards concerning, among other
things, audit risk, related parties, the confirmation process, audit documentation, evaluating audit
results, communication with audit committees, and due professional care in the performance of
work.

Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) provides, in pertinent part, that:

The Commission may . . . deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of appearing or
practicing before it . . . to any person who is found...to have willfully violated, or willfully aided
and abetted the violation of any provision of the Federal securities laws or the rules and
regulations thereunder.

The findings herein are made pursuant to Respondents’ Offer of Settlement and are not binding on any
other person or entity in this or any other proceeding.



3. Respondents also violated the Commission’s auditor independence requirements in
connection with the financial statement audits of dozens of broker-dealer clients. For at least one
audit of each of these broker-dealer audit clients, the Firm prepared its audit clients’ financial
statements and/or notes to the financial statements that were filed with the Commission.

4. As a result of this conduct, Respondents engaged in improper professional conduct,
violated rules of the Commission and PCAOB standards, and aided and abetted and caused an
issuer client and dozens of broker-dealer clients to file with the Commission financial statements
that included audit reports that falsely stated the audits had been conducted in accordance with
applicable professional standards.

B. RESPONDENTS

1. Edward Richardson Jr., age 69 and a resident of West Bloomfield, Michigan, is a
CPA licensed in Michigan. Richardson also holds accounting licenses and permits in several
additional states. Richardson, the sole owner of the Firm, was the engagement partner responsible
for all of the audits conducted by the Firm for the fiscal years ended January 1, 2010 through
December 31, 2015 (the “Relevant Period”).

2. Edward Richardson Jr., CPA is an accounting and auditing firm registered with the
PCAOB since 2009. The Firm’s primary business is auditing small broker-dealers. The Firm is
located in Southfield, Michigan. During most of the Relevant Period, the Firm employed on a full-
time basis one professional staff member in addition to Richardson and one clerical assistant.

C. RESPONDENTS FAILED TO OBTAIN ENGAGEMENT QUALITY REVIEWS
REQUIRED BY PCAOB STANDARDS

1. PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 7, Engagement Quality Review, requires auditors to
obtain an EQR and concurring approval of issuance from a competent reviewer who is independent
from the audit client.

2. The Firm served as the independent public accountant for an SEC registrant
(“Issuer A”) in connection with financial statement audits for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2013. Respondents failed to obtain an EQR and concurring approval of
issuance in connection with each audit of Issuer A for the fiscal years ended 2012 and 2013. In
addition, the Firm issued an audit report in connection with each of its audits of Issuer A stating
that the audit had been conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards.

3. The Firm served as the independent public accountant for over 80 broker-dealer
audit clients in connection with financial statement audits required under paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rule 17a-5 for the fiscal years ended after June 1, 2014 and through December 31,



2014.* Respondents failed to obtain an EQR and concurring approval of issuance in connection
with each of these audits. In addition, the Firm issued an audit report in connection with each of
these audits stating that the audit had been conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards.

4. The Firm served as the independent public accountant for over 80 broker-dealer
audit clients in connection with financial statement audits required under paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rule 17a-5 for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015 through December 31, 2015.
Respondents engaged an accountant to perform the required EQR with respect to a small number
of these audits, but failed to do so for the remaining audits. For each of these remaining audits, the
Firm issued an audit report stating that the audit had been conducted in accordance with PCAOB
standards when Respondents knew that EQRs were required under PCAOB standards and had not
been performed.

5. As a result of Respondents’ conduct, Issuer A and dozens of the Firm’s broker-
dealer audit clients filed with the Commission financial statements that included audit reports that
falsely stated the audits had been conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards.

D. RESPONDENTS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH NUMEROUS OTHER PCAOB
STANDARDS AND/OR GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING STANDARDS

1. The Firm served as the independent public accountant for the financial statement
audits of Issuer A for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013, for the
financial statement audit of a broker-dealer (“Broker-Dealer A”) for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2014, and for the financial statement audit of a broker-dealer (“Broker-Dealer B”) for the fiscal
year ended May 31, 2012. In connection with these audits, Richardson and the Firm failed to
comply with numerous PCAOB auditing standards and/or generally accepted auditing standards
(“GAAS”), as described below. Taken together, these failures evidence a lack of due care by
Respondents. Respondents either did not possess the degree of skill commonly possessed by
auditors or did not exercise reasonable care and diligence in performing audit work.

2. In 2012, 2013, and 2014 respectively, the Firm served as the independent public
accountant for the financial statement audits of over 75 clients each year that filed audited financial
statements with the Commission. A large percentage of these audit clients have fiscal years ending
on December 31. For example, the Firm audited over 75 broker-dealers with fiscal years ended
December 31, 2014, and approximately 70 of the audit reports signed by the Firm are dated
February 16, 2015.

3. Auditing Standard No. 8, Audit Risk, discusses the auditor’s consideration of audit
risk and requires the auditor to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement due to error or fraud. Auditing
Standard No. 12, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement, establishes

4 Audits of broker-dealers for fiscal years ending on or after June 1, 2014 are required to be performed in

accordance with PCAOB standards. See Exchange Act Rule 17 C.F.R. § 240.17a-5(g)(1); Broker-Dealer
Reports, SEC Release No. 34-70073 (July 30, 2013), 78 Fed. Reg. 51910 (Aug. 21, 2013).



requirements regarding the process of identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, thereby providing a basis for designing and implementing responses to
those risks. Auditing Standard No. 13, The Auditor’s Response to the Risks of Material
Misstatement, establishes requirements regarding designing and implementing responses to the
risks of material misstatement through appropriate overall audit responses and audit procedures.
Respondents did not appropriately perform risk assessment procedures during the audits of Issuer
A and/or Broker-Dealer A. For example, in instances where Respondents identified fraud risks
during their audits of Issuer A and/or Broker-Dealer A, the audit responses to such risks were
either inappropriate, inconsistent, or incomplete. During the audit of Broker-Dealer A,
Respondents identified revenue recognition and management override of controls as possible fraud
risks and documented that the audit responses were to confirm revenue and test controls.
Respondents, however, only subjected one of the client’s three revenue streams to confirmation
procedures, and the confirmation procedures that were performed were inadequate, including, but
not limited to, the design and timing of the confirmation procedures and the failure to address
exceptions and non-responses. In addition, Respondents did not obtain or document a sufficient
understanding of, or adequately test, internal controls, yet concluded that internal controls were
designed and implemented effectively and that the risk of material misstatement related to control
risk was low for all audit areas. In addition, when documenting opportunities for fraud,
Respondents identified a lack of segregation of duties due to the size of Broker-Dealer A as an
opportunity for fraud, but inappropriately noted that this risk was “offset by the fact that the
FINOP and FINRA auditors closely watches [sic] and reviews financial statement activity.” The
FINOP® was an employee of Broker-Dealer A and FINRA does not perform the function noted by
Respondents. During the audits of Issuer A, Respondents inappropriately identified reliance upon
reviews by SEC staff as part of their risk assessment procedures, and inaccurately identified such
reviews as being a “key control.” Respondents also identified risks related to financial reporting
by stating: “Shortcomings in financial statements would be frowned [sic] by the SEC.”

4. AU Section 334,° Related Parties, provides guidance on procedures that should be
considered by the auditor to address related party transactions. Respondents did not obtain an
adequate understanding of the nature, purpose, or collectability of related party receivables during
the audit of Broker-Dealer A. Respondents also did not identify that required disclosures
concerning related party transactions were missing from the footnotes to Broker-Dealer A’s
financial statements despite being aware of the transactions.

5. AU Section 330, The Confirmation Process, provides guidance about the
confirmation process in audits performed in accordance with PCAOB standards, including the
design of confirmations and performing alternative procedures when responses to confirmation

A “FINOP” is a broker-dealer’s Financial and Operations Principal, who has responsibilities related to,
among other things, financial reporting and recordkeeping.

The PCAOB adopted as interim standards, on a transitional basis, the auditing standards promulgated by
the Auditing Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants as in existence on
April 16, 2003, to the extent not superseded or amended by the PCAOB. See PCAOB Rule 3200T, Interim
Auditing Standards. Standards identified by the letters “AU” are such standards.



requests are not received. With respect to the audits of Issuer A and/or Broker-Dealer A,
Respondents did not appropriately design confirmations and performed insufficient procedures,
including, but not limited to, performing no procedures when confirmations were either returned
with discrepancies or not returned at all.

6. Auditing Standard No. 3, Audit Documentation, establishes general requirements
for documentation the auditor should prepare and retain in connection with engagements
conducted pursuant to PCAOB standards. Audit documentation created and maintained by
Respondents during the audits of Issuer A and/or Broker-Dealer A, and created by staff under
Richardson’s supervision, was inadequate, incomplete, unclear, and contained numerous mistakes
and inconsistencies. For example, audit documentation frequently failed to indicate the source,
person responsible for the preparation and/or review of the document, and the dates of preparation
and/or review; details of conversations with clients’ management were not documented, even when
such conversation was the sole support for the completion of relevant audit steps; and certain
workpapers were dated after the date of the audit report, and there was no documentation of the
reason for adding such workpapers. In addition, an experienced auditor could not look at the audit
documentation and understand the procedures performed, evidence obtained, or conclusions
reached.

7. Auditing Standard No. 14, Evaluating Audit Results, establishes requirements
regarding the auditor’s evaluation of the audit results and determination of whether he or she has
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Auditing Standard No. 15, Audit Evidence, explains
what constitutes audit evidence and establishes requirements regarding designing and performing
audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Respondents failed to
appropriately evaluate audit results during the audits of Issuer A and/or Broker-Dealer A. For
example, Respondents” workpapers for Broker-Dealer A include an Accumulated Misstatement
Evaluation Form, which purports to list, and evaluate, the misstatements or errors identified during
the audit. This workpaper is incomplete and inaccurate because it identifies only one misstatement
or error, although several misstatements or errors were identified by Respondents during the audit.
Moreover, the required evaluation of misstatements in their totality was neither performed nor
documented. In addition, Respondents signed off on the audit report prior to performing audit
procedures that were intended to respond to the identified fraud risk related to revenue recognition.

8. Respondents also failed to comply with additional PCAOB auditing standards
during their audits of Issuer A and/or Broker-Dealer A, including, but not limited to, Auditing
Standard No. 16, Communication with Audit Committees, including, but not limited to, the lack of
required communications with the audit committee; PCAOB Rule 3526, including the lack of
communication with the audit committee concerning independence; AU Section 316,
Consideration of Fraud in the Financial Statement Process, including, but not limited to, deficient
testing of journal entries; AU Section 333, Management Representations, including, but not
limited to, the fact that Broker-Dealer A’s management representation letter is dated after the date
of the audit report; AU Section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements and AU Section 530,
Dating of Independent Auditor’s Report, including, but not limited to, inaccurate audit report dates;
and AU Section 550, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements,



including, but not limited to, the failure to read and consider information included in Issuer A’s
Form 10-K and Form 10-K/A filings, other than the audited financial statements, prior to filing
with the Commission.

9. AU Section 230, Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work, imposes upon
an auditor the responsibility to observe the standards of field work and reporting and to exercise
professional skepticism. In addition to the foregoing, Respondents failure to comply with AU
Section 230 includes, but is not limited to, the use of outdated and inapplicable audit programs in
connection with audits of Issuer A. For example, Respondents used a superseded disclosure
requirements checklist for nonpublic businesses from January 2007 in connection with the audit of
Issuer A’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. Respondents’
workpapers also reflect responses that were cut-and-pasted from the workpapers of other audit
clients. For example, some workpapers for the audit of Broker-Dealer B document discussions
with a different audit client’s President and some workpapers for the audit of Issuer A identify
clearing broker statements as a source document — as so identified in the workpapers for Broker-
Dealer B as well as other broker-dealer audit clients — although Issuer A was not in the brokerage
business. In total, the breadth and depth of the audit issues related to Respondents’ audits,
including the audit failures described above and the presence of numerous mistakes, errors, and/or
oversights in the workpapers, demonstrate a lack of due professional care in the performance of
work.

10. As a result of Respondents’ conduct, Issuer A, Broker-Dealer A, and Broker-Dealer
B filed with the Commission financial statements that included audit reports that falsely stated the
audits had been conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards.

E. RESPONDENTS PREPARED CLIENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FILED
WITH THE COMMISSION IN VIOLATION OF AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
REQUIREMENTS

1. The Firm served as the independent public accountant for the financial statement
audits of over 80 broker-dealer audit clients for the fiscal years ended January 1, 2010 through
December 31, 2012 (the “Relevant Period for Independence”). In connection with at least one
audit performed for each of these broker-dealer audit clients during the Relevant Period for
Independence, Respondents prepared the financial statements and/or notes to the financial
statements that were filed with the Commission under paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rule 17a-5
in violation of the Commission’s auditor independence regulations set forth in Rule 2-01(b) and (c)
of Regulation S-X.

2. For example, during the audit of Broker-Dealer B for the year ended May 31, 2012,
Respondents were provided with financial documents generated by Broker-Dealer B. Respondents
reviewed and tested these documents, and the financial data contained therein, as part of the audit.
Respondents then utilized the information contained in these documents to create a set of financial
statements to be filed with the Commission. In particular, Firm personnel working on Firm
computers entered Broker-Dealer B’s financial data into the Firm’s engagement software and then



used that engagement software to generate a new set of financial statements, including the notes to
the financial statements, using the prior year’s financial statements as a template. Respondents
updated or revised the financial statements and notes to the financial statements as needed.
Respondents then provided the set of financial statements that Respondents had prepared to
Broker-Dealer B’s management for approval.

3. In July 2012, Broker-Dealer B filed with the Commission an annual report required
under paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rule 17a-5 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2012. Included
in that filing is an audit report signed by the Firm and stating, among other things, that the Firm’s
audit of Broker-Dealer B was conducted “in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America.”

4. Section 17(e)(1)(A) of the Exchange Act requires that every registered broker or
dealer “shall annually file with the Commission a balance sheet and income statement certified by
an independent public accounting firm, or by a registered public accounting firm if the firm is
required to be registered under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, prepared on a calendar or fiscal
year basis, and such other financial statements (which shall, as the Commission specifies, be
certified) and information concerning its financial condition as the Commission, by rule may
prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.”

5. Exchange Act Rule 17a-5(e)(1)(i) states: “An audit shall be conducted by a public
accountant who shall be in fact independent as defined in paragraph (f)(3) of this section herein,
and he shall give an opinion covering the statements filed pursuant to paragraph (d) . . ..”’
Exchange Act Rule 17a-5(f)(3) further states that, for such audits, “[a]n accountant shall be
independent in accordance with the provisions of Rule 2-01(b) and (c) of Regulation S-X.”

6. Exchange Act Rule 17a-5(g) requires that “[t]he audit shall be made in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards” and Exchange Act Rule 17a-5(i) requires that “[t]he
accountant’s report shall . . . [s]tate whether the audit was made in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards.” GAAS require auditors to maintain strict independence from their
audit clients; an auditor “must be free from any obligation to or interest in the client, its
management or its owners.” See Statement on Auditing Standard No. 1, Section
220.03. Accordingly, if an auditor’s report states that its audit was performed in accordance with
GAAS when the auditor was not independent, then it has violated Exchange Act Rule 17a-5(i).
See In the Matter of Rosenberg Rich Baker Berman & Company and Brian Zucker, CPA,
Exchange Act Release No. 69765 at p. 5 (June 14, 2013).

! The provisions of Exchange Act Rule 17a-5 referred to in paragraphs I11.E.5 and 6 are those in effect

during, and applicable to, the Relevant Period for Independence. On July 30, 2013, the Commission
adopted certain amendments to Rule 17a-5. See Broker-Dealer Reports, Exchange Act Release No. 34-
70073 (July 30, 2013), 78 Fed. Reg. 51910 (Aug. 21, 2013). Among other things, the amendments to Rule
17a-5 require that audits of brokers and dealers be performed in accordance with PCAOB standards,
effective for audits of fiscal years ending on or after June 1, 2014. The auditor independence requirement
of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X applied to broker-dealer audits both before and after the July 30, 2013
amendments. At the time of the Relevant Period for Independence, prior to the amendments, that
requirement was set out in Rule 17a-5(f)(3). It is now set out in Rule 17a-5(f)(1).


http://taft.law.uc.edu/CCL/regS-X/SX2-01.html

7. Rule 2-01(c)(4) of Regulation S-X provides that an accountant is not independent
if, at any point during the audit and professional engagement period, the accountant provides
prohibited non-audit services to an audit client. Rule 2-01(c)(4)(i) of Regulation S-X provides that
prohibited non-audit services include bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting
records or financial statements of the audit client, and defines such services as:

Any service, unless it is reasonable to conclude that the results of these services will not be
subject to audit procedures during an audit of the audit client’s financial statements,
including:

(A)Maintaining or preparing the audit client’s accounting records;

(B) Preparing the audit client’s financial statements that are filed
with the Commission or that form the basis of financial
statements filed with the Commission; or

(C) Preparing or originating source data underlying the audit
client’s financial statements.

8. Rule 2-01(c)(4)(i) of Regulation S-X specifically prohibits an audit firm from
preparing an audit client’s financial statements that are filed with the Commission. With respect to
the audit of Broker-Dealer B described above, Respondents violated this rule by, among other
things: aggregating line items from internal books and records to the financial statements;
changing line item descriptions; drafting or editing notes to the financial statements; and
converting FOCUS reports or bookkeeping software program reports into financial statements.

9. Respondents engaged in substantially similar conduct in connection with at least
one audit for dozens of additional broker-dealer clients during the Relevant Period for
Independence.

10.  Asaresult of Respondents’ conduct in preparing the financial statements, including
the notes thereto, Respondents were not independent of their broker-dealer audit clients under the
independence criteria established by Rule 2-01(c)(4) of Regulation S-X, which Exchange Act Rule
17a-5 makes applicable to the audits of broker-dealer financial statements. As a result, each such
broker-dealer client filed with the Commission financial statements that included an audit report
that falsely stated the audit had been conducted in accordance with GAAS.

F. VIOLATIONS

1. As a result of the conduct described above, the Firm willfully violated, and
Richardson willfully aided and abetted and caused the Firm’s violations of, Rule 2-02(b)(1) of



Regulation S-X, which requires an accountant’s report to state whether the audit was made in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.®

2. As a result of the conduct described above, the Firm willfully violated, and
Richardson willfully aided and abetted and caused the Firm’s violations of, Exchange Act Rule
17a-5, which requires an accountant’s report to state (1) whether the audit was made in accordance
with PCAOB standards,’ or (2) with respect to the Relevant Period for Independence, whether
the audit was made in accordance with GAAS.

3. As a result of the conduct described above, the Firm and Richardson willfully aided
and abetted and caused Issuer A to file with the Commission annual reports that contained false
and misleading information in violation of Exchange Act Sections 13(a) and 15(d) and Rules 13a-1
and 15d-1 promulgated thereunder.™

4. As a result of the conduct described above, the Firm and Richardson willfully aided
and abetted and caused dozens of broker-dealer audit clients to file with the Commission annual
reports that were not audited by an independent accountant and/or that contained false and
misleading information in violation of Exchange Act Section 17(a) and Rule 17a-5 promulgated
thereunder.

5. Rule 102(e) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice allows the Commission to
censure a person or deny the privilege of appearing or practicing before it to any person if it finds
that such person has engaged in “improper professional conduct” or has willfully violated or
willfully aided and abetted the violation of any provision of the federal securities laws. Exchange
Act 88 4C(a)(2) and (3); Rules 102(e)(1)(ii) and (iii). Rule 102(e) defines improper professional
conduct, in part, as either:

(2) A single instance of highly unreasonable conduct that results in a violation of
applicable professional standards in circumstances in which the registered

“[R]eferences in Commission rules and staff guidance and in the federal securities laws to GAAS or to
specific standards under GAAS, as they relate to issuers, should be understood to mean the standards of the
PCAOB plus any applicable rules of the Commission.” See Commission Guidance Regarding the Public
Company Oversight Board’s Auditing and Related Professional Practice Standard No. 1, SEC Exchange
Act Release No. 34-49708 (May 14, 2004).

As part of the Rule 17a-5 amendments adopted by the Commission on July 30, 2013, see supra note 7,
Rule 17a-5(i)(2)(i) was amended to state: “The independent public accountant’s reports must . . . [S]tate
whether the examinations or review, as applicable, were made in accordance with standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board.”

10 At the time Issuer A filed its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, Issuer A had securities
registered pursuant to Exchange Act Section 12(g) and therefore filed annual reports with the Commission
pursuant to Exchange Act Section 13(a). At the time Issuer A filed its Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012, Issuer A was required to file annual reports with the Commission pursuant to
Exchange Act Section 15(d).
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public accounting firm or associated person knows, or should know, that
heightened scrutiny is warranted.

(2) Repeated instances of unreasonable conduct, each resulting in a violation of
applicable professional standards, that indicate a lack of competence to
practice before the Commission.

Exchange Act § 4C(b)(2): Rule 102(e)(1)(iv)(B).

6. Questions regarding an auditor’s independence always warrant heightened scrutiny.
See Amendment to Rule 102(e) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 63 Fed. Reg. 57164, 57168
(Oct. 26, 1998) (codified at 17 C.F.R. Part 201). The Commission has defined the “highly
unreasonable” standard as:

an intermediate standard, higher than ordinary negligence but lower than the
traditional definition of recklessness used in cases brought under Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act. The highly
unreasonable standard is an objective standard. The conduct at issue is
measured by the degree of the departure from professional standards and not
the intent of the accountant.

Id. at 57,167.

7. As a result of the conduct described above, the Firm and Richardson engaged in
improper professional conduct subject to Section 4C(a)(2) of the Exchange Act and Rule
102(e)(1)(ii) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice.

8. As a result of the conduct described above, the Firm and Richardson willfully
violated and/or willfully aided and abetted violations of the federal securities laws, which
constitute conduct subject to Section 4C(a)(3) of the Exchange Act and Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) of the
Commission’s Rules of Practice.

G. FINDINGS

1. Based on the foregoing, the Commission finds that the Firm willfully violated,
and Richardson willfully aided and abetted and caused the Firm’s violations of, Exchange Act
Rule 17a-5(i) and Rule 2-02(b)(1) of Regulation S-X.

2. Based on the foregoing, the Commission finds that Richardson and the Firm
willfully aided and abetted and caused Issuer A’s violations of Exchange Act Sections 13(a) and
15(d) and Rules 13a-1 and 15d-1 promulgated thereunder, and willfully aided and abetted and
caused dozens of broker-dealers’ violations of Exchange Act Section 17(a) and Rule 17a-5
promulgated thereunder.
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3. Based on the foregoing, the Commission finds that Richardson and the Firm
engaged in improper professional conduct pursuant to Exchange Act Section 4C(a)(2) and Rule
102(e)(1)(ii) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, and willfully violated, and/or willfully aided
and abetted violations of, the federal securities laws within the meaning of Exchange Act Section
4C(a)(3) and Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice.

V.

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate to impose the sanctions
agreed to in Respondents’ Offer.

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED, effective immediately, that:

A. Richardson and the Firm shall cease and desist from committing or causing any
violations and any future violations of Sections 13(a), 15(d), and 17(a) of the Exchange Act and
Rules 13a-1, 15d-1, and 17a-5 promulgated thereunder and Rule 2-02(b)(1) of Regulation S-X.

B. Richardson is denied the privilege of appearing or practicing before the
Commission as an accountant.

C. After seven years from the date of this Order, Richardson may request that the
Commission consider his reinstatement by submitting an application (attention: Office of the
Chief Accountant) to resume appearing or practicing before the Commission as:

1. a preparer or reviewer, or a person responsible for the preparation or
review, of any public company’s financial statements that are filed with the Commission (other
than as a member of an audit committee, as that term is defined in Section 3(a)(58) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Such an application must satisfy the Commission that
Richardson’s work in his practice before the Commission as an accountant will be reviewed
either by the independent audit committee of the public company for which he works or in some
other acceptable manner, as long as he practices before the Commission in this capacity; and/or

2. a preparer or reviewer, or a person responsible for the preparation or
review, of any public company’s financial statements that are filed with the Commission as a
member of an audit committee, as that term is defined in Section 3(a)(58) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Such an application will be considered on a facts and circumstances
basis with respect to such membership, and the applicant’s burden of demonstrating good
cause for reinstatement will be particularly high given the role of the audit committee in
financial and accounting matters; and/or

3. an independent accountant.

Such an application must satisfy the Commission that:
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@) Richardson, or the public accounting firm with which he is
associated, is registered with the PCAOB in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
and such registration continues to be effective;

(b) Richardson, or the registered public accounting firm with which he
is associated, has been inspected by the PCAOB and that inspection did not identify any
criticisms of or potential defects in Richardson’s or the firm’s quality control system that would
indicate that Richardson will not receive appropriate supervision;

(c) Richardson has resolved all disciplinary issues with the PCAOB,
and has complied with all terms and conditions of any sanctions imposed by the PCAOB (other
than reinstatement by the Commission); and

(d) Richardson acknowledges his responsibility, as long as he appears
or practices before the Commission as an independent accountant, to comply with all
requirements of the Commission and the PCAOB, including, but not limited to, all requirements
relating to registration, inspections, concurring partner reviews and quality control standards.

D. The Commission will consider an application by Richardson to resume appearing
or practicing before the Commission provided that his state CPA license is current and he has
resolved all other disciplinary issues with the applicable state boards of accountancy. However,
if state licensure is dependent on reinstatement by the Commission, the Commission will
consider an application on its other merits. The Commission’s review may include consideration
of, in addition to the matters referenced above, any other matters relating to Richardson’s
character, integrity, professional conduct, or qualifications to appear or practice before the
Commission as an accountant. Whether an application demonstrates good cause will be
considered on a facts and circumstances basis with due regard for protecting the integrity of the
Commission’s processes.

E. The Firm is denied the privilege of appearing or practicing before the
Commission as an accountant.

F. After seven years from the date of this Order, the Firm may request that the
Commission consider its reinstatement by submitting an application (attention: Office of the
Chief Accountant) to resume appearing or practicing before the Commission as:

1. a preparer or reviewer, or a person responsible for the preparation or
review, of any public company’s financial statements that are filed with the Commission (other
than as a member of an audit committee, as that term is defined in Section 3(a)(58) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Such an application must satisfy the Commission that the
Firm’s work in its practice before the Commission as an accountant will be reviewed either by
the independent audit committee of the public company for which it works or in some other
acceptable manner, as long as it practices before the Commission in this capacity; and/or
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2. an independent accountant.
Such an application must satisfy the Commission that:

(a) The Firm is registered with the PCAOB in accordance with the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and such registration continues to be effective;

(b) The Firm hired an independent CPA consultant (“consultant”), who is
not unacceptable to the staff of the Commission and is affiliated with a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB, that has conducted a review of the Firm’s quality control system and
submitted to the staff of the Commission a report that describes the review conducted and
procedures performed, and represents that the review did not identify any criticisms of or
potential defects in the Firm’s quality control system that would indicate that any of the Firm’s
employees will not receive appropriate supervision. The Firm agrees to require the consultant, if
and when retained, to enter into an agreement that provides that for the period of review and for
a period of two years from completion of the review, the consultant shall not enter into any
employment, consultant, attorney-client, auditing or other professional relationship with the
Firm, or any of its present or former affiliates, directors, officers, employees, or agents acting in
their capacity. The agreement will also provide that the consultant will require that any firm with
which he/she is affiliated or of which he/she is a member, and any person engaged to assist the
consultant in performance of his/her duties under this Order shall not, without prior written
consent of the staff, enter into any employment, consultant, attorney-client, auditing or other
professional relationship with the Firm, or any of its present or former affiliates, directors,
officers, employees, or agents acting in their capacity as such for the period of the review and for
a period of two years after the review;

(c) The Firm has resolved all disciplinary issues with the PCAOB, and has
complied with all terms and conditions of any sanctions imposed by the PCAOB (other than
reinstatement by the Commission); and

(d) The Firm acknowledges its responsibility, as long as it appears or
practices before the Commission as an independent accountant, to comply with all requirements
of the Commission and the PCAOB, including, but not limited to, all requirements relating to
registration, inspections, concurring partner reviews and quality control standards.

G. The Commission will consider an application by the Firm to resume appearing or
practicing before the Commission provided that its state CPA license is current and it has
resolved all other disciplinary issues with the applicable state boards of accountancy. However,
if state licensure is dependent on reinstatement by the Commission, the Commission will
consider an application on its other merits. The Commission’s review may include consideration
of, in addition to the matters referenced above, any other matters relating to the Firm’s character,
integrity, professional conduct, or qualifications to appear or practice before the Commission as
an accountant. Whether an application demonstrates good cause will be considered on a facts

14



and circumstances basis with due regard for protecting the integrity of the Commission’s
processes

H. Richardson and the Firm shall pay, jointly and severally, a civil money penalty in
the amount of $35,000 to the Securities and Exchange Commission for transfer to the general
fund of the United States Treasury, subject to Exchange Act Section 21F(g)(3). Payment shall
be made in the following installments: $8,750 within ten days of the entry of this Order; $8,750
within 120 days of the entry of this Order; $8,750 within 240 days of the entry of this Order; and
$8,750 within 360 days of the entry of this Order. If any payment is not made by the date the
payment is required by this Order, the entire outstanding balance of civil penalties, plus any
additional interest accrued pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3717, shall be due and payable immediately,
without further application. Payment must be made in one of the following ways:

1) Respondents may transmit payment electronically to the Commission,
which will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon
request;

(2) Respondents may make direct payment from a bank account via Pay.gov
through the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm; or

3) Respondents may pay by certified check, bank cashier’s check, or United
States postal money order, made payable to the Securities and Exchange
Commission and hand-delivered or mailed to:

Enterprise Services Center
Accounts Receivable Branch

HQ Bldg., Room 181, AMZ-341
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard
Oklahoma City, OK 73169

Payments by check or money order must be accompanied by a cover letter identifying
Richardson and/or the Firm as Respondent(s) in these proceedings, and the file number of these
proceedings; a copy of the cover letter and check or money order must be sent to Melissa R.
Hodgman, Associate Director, Division of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission,
100 F St., NE, Washington, DC 20549-5553.

l. Amounts ordered to be paid as civil money penalties pursuant to this Order shall
be treated as penalties paid to the government for all purposes, including all tax purposes. To
preserve the deterrent effect of the civil penalty, Respondents agree that in any Related Investor
Action, they shall not argue that they are entitled to, nor shall they benefit by, offset or reduction
of any award of compensatory damages by the amount of any part of Respondents’ payment of a
civil penalty in this action (“Penalty Offset™). If the court in any Related Investor Action grants
such a Penalty Offset, Respondents agree that they shall, within 30 days after entry of a final
order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Commission’s counsel in this action and pay the
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amount of the Penalty Offset to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Such a payment shall
not be deemed an additional civil penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the
civil penalty imposed in this proceeding. For purposes of this paragraph, a “Related Investor
Action” means a private damages action brought against Respondents by or on behalf of one or
more investors or audit clients based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Order
instituted by the Commission in this proceeding.

V.

It is Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptions to discharge set forth in Section 523 of
the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S. C. 8523, the findings in this Order are true and admitted by
Respondent Richardson, and further, any debt for disgorgement, prejudgment interest, civil penalty
or other amounts due by Respondent Richardson under this Order or any other judgment, order,
consent order, decree or settlement agreement entered in connection with this proceeding, is a debt
for the violation by Respondent Richardson of the federal securities laws or any regulation or order
issued under such laws, as set forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C.
8523(a)(19).

By the Commission.

Brent J. Fields
Secretary
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